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ABSTRACT

The paper presents a study of the mosque of al-
Karimiyah, which is considered one of the
oldest mosques in Aleppo city. Despite the
importance of this mosque, no study has been
allocated to it, which gives a special
significance of this paper especially that the
monuments of the city subject to severe ruin
because of the current events in Syria in
general. The paper examines the names of the
mosque and its historical importance as
demonstrated through its various functions. All
renewal works at the building are considered
and an architectural description is provided,
which includes a new dating for some
elements, in addition to an analytical study
shows the origin of the mosque's elements and
compares them to parallel examples. The paper
included also a reading for all remaining
inscriptions with facsimile figures made by the
author and published for the first time. The
study also elucidates the endowments that were
allocated to the mosque during the Mamluk
and the Ottoman periods, demonstrating the
significance of its wagf. All plates have been
taken by the author in 2010.
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INTRODUCTION

The city of Aleppo is Syria's second city, located on the river Qiwiq in north-west
Syria. It is often regarded as the oldest inhabited city in the world because of its
continuous history from at least the twentieth century BCE'. It played a significant
historical role during the pre-Islamic periods because of its location on the shortest
and most convenient route between the Middle East and the Mediterranean®, which
made it an important center of civilization. The importance of the city declined during
the first three centuries of Islam’, but it flourished again from the reign of Hamdanids
332-356 A.H/ 944-967 A.D* to become a base for rule in northern Syria’. It remained
a place of interest for the rulers of the later Islamic periods, especially under the reign
of the Mamluks 658-922 A .H/ 1260-1516 A.D, when it was regarded as a border
city®.

The city's rulers constructed many monuments across the different Islamic eras to
commemorate their memories or as charitable acts. Therefore, the artistic treasures of
Aleppo are innumerable. They include the citadel, which is probably the best example
extant of medieval military architecture’, the fortified city walls and ancient gates,
which served as an external shield to protect the city®. Many mosques were
constructed and spread widely across the cityg, in addition to madrassas, souks, khans,
private homes, and thousands of other architectural elements that represent all periods
of Islamic historylo.

Among the many monumental treasures of the city is the mosque of al-Karimiyah. It
is considered one of the oldest mosques in the city, constructed not long after the
Islamic conquest, although its exact foundation date is unknown''. It is located within
the city's borders and its architectural elements still remain in good condition. It is
characterized by architectural elements that belong to three successive periods: the
Ayyubid, Mamluk, and the Ottoman.

The renewal works undertaken during each of these periods left clear signatures and
still remain as a witness to the architectural styles of the time in which they were
added. This article demonstrates the archaeological importance of the mosque of al-
Karimiyah through a description and analytical study of its elements, including their
dating. The importance of this study is enhanced by the current unrest in Syrian cities
generally, and especially in Aleppo, which threatens various archaeological sites of

! Petersen, Dictionary of Islamic architecture, p. 10.

% Chehade, “Aleppo: Its structure and problems”, p. 102.
3 Petersen, Dictionary of Islamic architecture, pp. 10-11.

* David & Hiritani, Halab, p. 59.

° Sauvaget, Alep, p. 84.

6 Sauvaget, Tyrwhitt, “Aleppo”, p. 407; Gaube, wirth, Aleppo, p. 51; Burns, Aleppo, p. 168.
" Saouaf, Miller, Aleppo, p. 8.

® Tabaa, “Circle of power”, p. 181.

° Warren, “Key monuments of Islamic architecture”, p. 231.
10 Roded, “Great Mosques”, p. 32.

" al-Asadi, Ahiya’ halab, p.107.
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different ages. Several sites, including the mosque under study, have been damaged
during these events'”.

AL-KARIMIYAH MOSQUE, HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Among the monuments of the old city of Aleppo, the mosque of al-Karimiyah is
considered one of the oldest archaeological buildings surviving'®. Unfortunately, we
cannot accurately determine the date of the mosque because it does not include any
inscriptions giving its first foundation date, and nor is this mentioned in historical
sources. The latter do indicate, however, that it was built in an early period after the
Islamic conquest'®, in either the reign of the Caliph ‘Umar Ibn al-Khattab or Caliph
‘Umar Ibn Abd al-Aziz". Caliph ‘Umar Ibn al-Khattab ruled between 13-23 AH/ 634-
644 AD and Caliph ‘Umar Ibn Abd al-Aziz reigned between 99-101 AH/ 717-719 AD.
Therefore, we can determine the first foundation date of the mosque as between 16
AH/ 637 AD, in which the Arab Muslim armies entered the city of Aleppo, and the
year 101 AH/ 719 AD in which the Caliphate of ‘Umar Ibn Abd al-Aziz ended noting
that this supposition is based on what mentioned in the historical sources about this
regard but, as aforementioned, no archaeological evidences. Thus, using the historical
sources, we can suppose an approximate foundation date for the mosque during the 1*
century AH until the first year of the 2nd century AH.

As for the mosque’s names, al-Karimiyah is the current, popular name'®, although its
original name was al-Muhsab, which was mentioned in the historical sources of the
Ayyubid period '7. Unfortunately, the historical sources did not present any
explanation for this name, some references referred that it has no origin'® and the
other mentioned it with no comment'. This name may have owned to the supervisor
al-mutawali of the mosque in this period that many mosques in the same city were
called by the names of their supervisors such as the mosque of al- Amir Ashigtumur
773 A.H/ 1371 A.D which was famous by al-Sakakini as relate to its supervisor’’. The
name al-Karimiyah is related to al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim al-Khafi, who renewed the
mosque in the Mamluk periodzl. In addition to its original and current names, it

12 Shady, Bashar, “Syrian Archaeological Heritage”, p. 7.

13 Talas, Al-Athar al-islamiyah, p. 93; Nutfaji, fan al- imarah, p. 53.

' al-Ghuzzi, Nahr al-dhahab, vol. 2, p. 98.

' Ibn Shaddad, Al-4 lag al-Khafirah, vol. 1, p. 63.

1 Many historical sources and references attested that this name correlated with the mosque since the
Mamluk period after the renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim al-Khdfi. Tbn al-‘Ajami, Kuniiz al-
dhahab, vol.1, p. 256.; Tbn al-Hanbal1, Durr al- habab, vol. 1, p. 839.; al-Ghuzzi, Nahr al-dhahab, vol.
2, p. 98.; al- Tabbakh, 4 lam al-nubla’, vol. 5, p. 287.; Herzfeld, Inscriptions et monuments d’Alep,
vol. 2, p. 315.; Gaube, Arabische inschriften aus Syrien, p. 42.; Miencke, Die Mamlukische architektur,
p. 372. At the same time, some references referred that the mosque has been famous with this name
since the beginning of the 20" century. al-Jasir, Dir al-mutasawifah, p. 229.

" Ibn Shaddad, Al-4 lag al-Khatirah, vol. 1, p. 63.

'® Herzfeld, Inscriptions et monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.

19 al-Jasir, Dir al-mutasawifah, p. 229.

20 Talas, Al-’ Athar al-islamiyah, p. 157; al-Jabbiiri, al-mushaidat al-waqfivah, p. 126.

! Miencke, Die Mamlukische architektur, p- 372.
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known by the name Masjid al-Qadam, or footprint mosque, as it includes a footprint
attributed to the prophet Muhammad™”.

LOCATION OF THE MOSQUE

The mosque is situated in a district inside Bdb Qinnasrin®. The quarters which are
located inside the city's gates are often named after these gates, such as the quarter of
Bab al-Nasr, the quarter of Bab Qinnasrin, and the quarter of Bab al-Naiyrab®®. The
district of Bab Qinnasrin is considered one of the oldest districts in Aleppo; this is
evidenced by the plans in which the ancient districts of the city were built (Fig. 1).

There are many monumental buildings around the mosque, such as Bab Qinnasrin, so
named because it leads to the city of Qinnasrin®. Other monuments situated in this
district include the mosque of al-T arsiist® and Hammam al- Juhart.”’

« figno.l: The map of
the old city of Aleppo
shows the location of the
mosque. After, the center
of planning and
archaeological studies in
Aleppo.

THE RENEWAL WORKS

The mosque of al-Karimiyah was renewed many times after its first construction.
According to historical sources and inscriptions within the mosque itself, the current
building attributed to three principal periods: the Ayyubid, the Mamluk, and the
Ottoman period.

The mosque was renewed for the first time in the Ayyubid period®® during the reign of
al-Sultan al-Nasir Yisuf II under the supervisor of his slave Abd al-Rahman Ibn Abd

2 ‘Uthman, Al-’Athar wa-l-awabid al-tarikhiyah, p. 123.

23 al-Hims1, Halab al-qadimah, p. 36.

% Hivernel, “Bab al-Nayrab”, p. 216.

% Bab Qinnasrin may have been built by Saif al-Dawlah al-Hamadani, the ruler of Aleppo between
333-356 AH/ 945-967 AD and was later renewed by al-Malik al-Nasir Yiasuf Il in 654 AH/ 1256 AD.
Ibn Shaddad, , Al-A ldaq al-Khatirah, vol. 1, p. 19; Qal‘aji, Halab al-qadimah, p. 105.

% the mosque of al-Tarsust is attributed to the Zangi period and renewed by Ahmad Ibn al-Tdjir in 708
AH/ 1308 AD. al-Ghuzzi, Nahr al-dhahab, vol. 2, p. 101.

" Hammam al- Juhari is attributed to al-Amir Agbugha al- Juhari in 786 AH/ 1383 AD. Abd al-
Razik, Al-Hammamat al- ‘ammah, p. 335.
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al-Rihim Ibn al-‘Ajamf al- Shafi ©*° in 654 AH/ 1256 AD’. These renewal works are
attested in an inscription written by Thuluth, located in the northern entrance’'. Some
researchers consider this date as that of the first construction® but the inscription
begins with al-Basmalah, followed by the phrase “this building was renewed...”,
clearly indicating that these works were renovations after the first construction, as
also confirmed by the historical sources.

The mosque was renewed again in the Mamluk period by al-Qddi Baha’ al-Din Alt
Muhammad Ibn Abt Sawadah®, who renewed the minaret in 771 AH/ 1369 AD.
These works were proven in an inscription mentioned by Ibn al-‘Ajami (Kuniiz, 1, p.
256) and was engraved on the minaret shaft but it has faded and no longer exists.

The main renewal works, however, were undertaken by al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim Ibn
Abd Allah al-Khafi al- Hanafi in 855 AH/ 1451 AD*. He was a student of al-Shaykh
Zain al-Din al-Khafi, to whom he belonged, and he was one of the dignitaries of
Aleppo. He died in 884 AH/ 1479 AD and was buried in a tomb inside the mosque”.

The renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim are considered the most important in
the history of the mosque, and so the building itself was attributed to him. He decided
to renew the mosque after adopting it as his place of residence. He demolished the
shops adjacent to the mosque on its western side and added their spaces to it, then he
expanded its eastern iwan and ordered that Friday prayers should be held at the
mosque. These renewal works also included the construction of another entrance
beside the old one, new windows in its western side, and toilets for the ablution
services®®. His works were not limited to renewals of the building itself, but also he
appointed an Imam for the prayers and Friday sermon and a reader of the Quran®’. He
proclaimed his works in a monumental inscription located above the window of his
tomb inside the mosque.

Following this, the mosque was renewed again by al-Amir jani Bik al-Taji, the ruler
of Aleppo city, in 866 AH/ 1461 AD, who renewed many parts of the building and

*® Unfortunately, there is no available information for the several centuries between the foundation of
the mosque and its first renewal in the Ayyubid period in 654 AH/ 1256 AD. The historical sources
provide no notes on the mosque during this period and the building itself does not include any
inscriptions before those relating to the Ayyubid renovations in 654 AH/ 1256 AD.
? He was captured by the Mongols and murdered in 658 A.H/ 1259 A.D. al-Dhahabi, siyar a ‘lam, vol.
1, p. 522.
% The same date - 654 AH - was engraved in Bab Qinnasrin beside the mosque as a renewal date
during the reign of al-Sultan a/-Ndasir Yiisuf, indicating that the renovation of the mosque and of Bab
ginnasrin were undertaken at the same time.

Herzfeld, Inscriptions et monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.
%2 “Uthman, Al-Handasah al-"insh ‘tyah, p. 206.
% al-Qadi Baha’ al-Din belonged to Bani Sawadah, a famous family who lived in Aleppo, in a district
specially allocated to them. They held many prestigious positions in the city; al-Qadr Baha’ al-Din was
a judge for the city and appointed as a head of Diwan al-Insha’. Ibn al-*Ajam1, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol.
1, p. 462; Ibn Habib, Tadhkarit, vol. 1, p. 248; Tbn al-Wardi, Tarikh ibn al-wardi, vol. 2, p. 374; al-
‘Asqalani, al-Durar, vol. 3, p. 259.
34 al-Ghuzzi, Nahr al-dhahab, vol. 2, p. 98.
% Ibn al-Hanbali, Durr al- habab, vol. 1, p. 839.
% Ibn al-*Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.
37 al- Tabbakh, 4 lam al-nubla’, vol. 5, p. 287.
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added a new minbar’. We can thus be certain that the mosque was renewed three
times during the Mamluk period. These works are proven by inscriptions, some of
which still remain and others of which are now lost but were mentioned in historical
sources.

After a period of time, the mosque then fell into ruins and was deserted by
worshipers, remaining in that state until it was renewed in 1302 AH/ 1885 AD by
Jamil Pasha, the ruler of Aleppo in the reign of al-Sultan Abd al- Hamid 11. These
works included many improvements inside the mosque. They are attested in two
monumental inscriptions, the first one located above the southern entrance and the
second located above the facade of the main iwan. In mentioning the works of Jamil
Pasha, we should refer also to Gaube’s (1978, p. 42) note that there was once a shop
located 150 m north of the mosque, the facade of which included a monumental
inscription with two lines referring to the mosque.

ol iy -]
1302 4w ey SI) -2
1- This waqf was endowed on the mosque of
2- al-Karimiyah in 1302

The shop no longer exists, but it was recorded, with its inscription, by Gaube (1978, p.
42)*. The inscription measured 40 x 20 cm and indicated that the shop was among the
endowments of the mosque and that it was built in 1302 AH/ 1885 AD. This date is
the same as the works of Jamil Pasha. So, the conclusion can be drawn that the
renewal works of Jamil Pasha were not limited to the mosque alone, but also included
endowments that were built and allocated to the mosque.

THE FUNCTIONS OF THE MOSQUE

Although the mosque has four inscriptions, their content is limited to mentions of the
names and nicknames of those responsible for renewal works and the dates of these
events. None mentions the functions of the mosque, referring to it as a building in
general.

The first inscription, for example, belongs to the Ayyubid period. It began with al-
Basmalah, followed with the phrase
M. AS bl L) 38 Caa, Tt is clear that the inscription did not mention a specific
function for the building, whether before the renewal works or after their

completion®.

¢ »n

“...this blessed building was renewed.....

38 Miencke, Die Mamlukische architektur, p. 372.

% This inscription was also photographed and facsimiled by ‘Uthman (2010, p. 149), look at (Fig.12) at
this study.

% The same phrase was used in the same city in an inscription commemorating the renewal works of
Niir al-Din Zanki in al- Hallawiyah madrasa, but the phrase in this case was more specific in that it
was complimented by explicit reference to the function of the building: “... this blessed building was
renewed and constructed as a madrasa for jurists ...""...ekedll Lu 2o LLiify snewll L0/ 038 238, " The
inscription indicated that Niar al-Din renewed the building in general without any specification
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The second of the al-Karimiyah mosque inscriptions is a Mamluk inscription. It is
situated in the mausoleum’s window and again does not mention the function of the
mosque. It begins with a similar phrase: “this blessed place was constructed...” Liil"
"&bl SISl J3a; the phrase may refer only to the mausoleum or perhaps to the
building in general. The third inscription dated to the Ottoman period and also has no
mention of the mosque’s functions. The only note regarding the function of the
building occurs in the fourth inscription, which belongs also to the Ottoman period. It

is located in the fagade of al-Qibliyah and in its last verse refers to the building as a
mosque . "awall 38 3n 2§ 0 mas

From the preceding discussion, it is clear that the four inscriptions in the building,
which belong to three different historical periods, do not provide us with any notes
about its function. It is necessary instead to identify the functions of the building from
what is mentioned in the historical sources, which indicate that it held a range of roles
since its first construction. It was initially limited to holding the five prayers, until it
was expanded and renewed in the Mamluk period by al-Shaykh Abd al- Karim®'.
From that time, it became a congregational mosque* and the Friday prayer was held
inside it™. In discussing its function, Herzfeld (1955, p. 372) referred to it as al-
madrasa al/-Karimiyah, but the historical sources do not mention any notes about this
function. Some historical sources do refer to it as a Zawiyah, such as Ibn al-Hanbal1
(Durr, 1, p. 839), who said in the biography of al-Shayh Abd al-Kartim “Abd al-Karim
Ibn Abd Allah al-Khaftr al-Hanafi the owner of the famous Zawiyah inside bab
Qinsarin...”

Herzfeld also added a new function. He assumed that the mosque played the role of
al-Khangah, and was known as al-khangdah al-Shamsiyah™. Although the historical
sources do not comment that the mosque played this role*’, this assumption may be
logical, especially after it was renewed under the patronage of al-Shaykh Abd al-
Karim al-Khafi, who was famous for his Sufis activity. This is further supported by

regarding its function, but showed also that the building after these renewal works became a madrasa
for jurists, noting that the building was used as a mosque before the works of Niir al-Din. Tbn Shaddad,
Al-A‘lag al-khatirah, vol. 1, p. 111.; al-Jirmani, Tuhaf al- ‘anba’,p. 200.; Herzfeld, Inscriptions et
monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.; al-Jasir, Madaris halab, p. 109.

*! Ibn al-Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.

“2 The mosque was mentioned among the lists of the congregational mosques that were mentioned in
the contemporary sources of the Mamluk period. Ibn al-Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256; Ibn al-
Shuhnah, Al-Durr al-muntakhab, p.72; Gaube, Wirth, Aleppo, p. 235.

*3 Meincke, Die Mamlukische architektur, p- 372.

** Herzfeld, Inscriptions et monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.

“ Ibn Hajar al-‘Asqalani referred in his book (inba’, vol. 3, pp. 138-141) during his translation of al-
Shaykh Muhamad Ibn Bahadir Ibn Abdullah al-Zarkashi that he assumed the position of Shaykh in al-
Khanqgah al-Karimiyah. Al-‘Asqalani did not determined if he mean the mosque of al-Karimiyah in
Aleppo or al-Khanqgah al-Karimiyah in Cairo as al-Shaykh al-Zarkahi frequented to Aleppo and Cairo
during his life. The same historian translated to al-Shaykh al-Zarkahi in his book (al-Durar, vol. 3, pp.
397-398) and stated that al-ZarkahT appointed as Shaykh in khanqat Karim al-din. It is proved that al-
‘Asqalant intended al-Khangah al-Karimiyah in Cairo which was situated in al-Qarafah al-Sughra and
constructed by al-Amir Karim al-din Ibn al-Sadid in 722 A.H/ 1322 A.D. al-‘Asqalani, inba’, vol. 1, p.
447; al-*Asqalani, al-Durar, vol. 3, p. 398; Said, “Kahngahat misr”, p. 1455.
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the fact that this man was one of the students of al-Shaykh Zain al-Din al-Khafi, who
was a famous Sufi man. al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim was a close student of his and took
his name -al-Khafi- as a nickname*®. Therefore, it is likely that al-Shaykh Abd al-
Karim made the mosque a refuge for the Sufis after he renewed it.

In addition to these functions, the mosque includes a mausoleum added by al-Shaykh
Abd al-Karim as his own tomb*’. It was also used as a shrine because it includes a
footprint on a marble slab incorrectly attributed to the prophet Muhammad. From the
preceding, it is clear that the mosque of al-Karimiyah played various functions and
had great importance among the mosques of Aleppo city.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION AND ANALYTICAL STUDY

The mosque occupies an irregular area with a total 1350 sq m. It has only one free
facade, which overlooks the adjacent street. The fagade has two entrances and only
one minaret, surmounting the southern entrance. Inside the mosque, there are many
architectural units, such as the main iwan, a side portico, a mausoleum, and other
extensions. All the architectural units inside the mosque share one open courtyard

(Fig. 2).

« fig.no.2: The
plan of the mosque.
After, The center of

planning and
archaeological
studies in Aleppo.

1. The facade:

The mosque has only one fagcade overlooks the Bab Qinnasrin street. Its length is
30.15 m, and it is 5.60 m high from the level of the outside street, which is now at a
level 80 cm above the base of the facade. At the top of the fagade there is a renewed

46 al-Sakhawi, Al-Daw’ allami‘, vol. 9, p. 260.
4 Meincke, Die Mamlukische architektur, p. 372.
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surmounting wall measuring 1.80 m high, which means that the overall height of the
facade today is 8.20 m (Fig. 3). The fagade is characterized by its simplicity and is
devoid of decorations except a projecting stone cornice at its top (P1. 1).

oooooo

b 4 iy

fig.no.3: The fagade of the mosque, the two Pl.no.1 The fagade of the mosque. By the
entrances, and the minaret. After, the center of author in July 2010.
planning and archaeological studies in Aleppo.

The southern section of the facade is occupied by three shops. These were probably
among the endowments allocated to the mosque during the works of al-Shaykh Abd
al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD, since the historical sources mention that his
expansions were in the western side*®, where the three shops are located. The first and
the second shop overlook the outside street via a pointed arch; they are adjacent to the
southern entrance from the south side. The third shop overlooks the outside street
through a flat arch and is separated by a small window (Fig. 3). This window connects
the main iwan and the external fagade through a short corridor roofed by a pointed
vault 2.30 m long. The window rises over the street level by 70 cm and reaches 2.30
m high. It is topped by a curved arch, and covered by a veil of iron grill.

In the north side of the fagade, there are other two windows. They were added during
the works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim®. They have the same height of 1.40 m, and
same width of 90 cm, and they are covered by iron grilles. Beside the two windows on
the south side, there is a Qastal for drinking water comprised of a deep recess topped
by a pointed arch (Pl. 1). It represents the common style found in many monumental
buildings of the city, most of which have a small recess with a pottery pipe which
provides them with water. The Qastal appeared in many building's facades, such as
the mosque of al-Shu Tybiyah, which is considered the first mosque constructed in the
city (Raby 2004, 289). The Qastal also occurs in many facades during the Mamluk
period, such as the facade of Mihmindar mosque 8™ AH/ 14™ AD which includes a
Qastal in its western side. It appears as well in the facades of many Ottoman
buildings, such as that of Bahram pasha mosque in al- Jalliwm district 991 AH/ 1583
AD”,

“8 Ibn al-Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.
“ Tbn al-Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.
%0 Abd al-Razik, “Mosque of Bahram Basha”, p. 4.
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The current mosque includes only one fagade, we cannot state if it included side-
facades as there is no available information about its first construction. By any way,
single facades, as found at the al-Karimiyah mosque, are a common feature in many
mosques of the city in the Mamluk period as well as earlier and later periods. Among
the mosques that include only one facade are: the mosque of Abi Yahia al-Kawakibt
in al-Jalliwm district dating to 628 AH/ 1220 AD; al-Zaki mosque in Bab al-Nasr
street dating to 700 AH/ 1300 AD; al- Sirawi mosque in al-Bayddah district dating to
780 AH/ 1378 AD; and al-Sakakini in al-A jam district dating to 773 AH/ 1371 AD.
The facade of the al-Karimiyah mosque is very simple, as in the majority of facades
of the city's mosques, except for the inscriptions and the color rotation around the
entrance. The same simplicity is seen elsewhere, such as the facade of al-Atrish
mosque behind the justice palace, built in 812 AH/ 1409 AD, and al-Daraj mosque in
khan al-Sabil district dating to 9™ AH/ 15™ AD’".

2. The entrances:

The mosque has two entrances located in its facade. The first, located in the north
side, is the oldest one; it was added during the renewal works of the Ayyubid period
in 654 AH/ 1256 AD. It comprises a huge recess measuring 5.10 m high from its base,
and 2 m in width. It is surmounted by a semi-dome with a pointed sector based on
three squinches in each of the two inner corners. Inside the recess, there is the door
that leads inside. It measures 2.10 m high from its base, and is 1.15 m wide. A flat
marble lintel surmounts it, and it is closed by two wooden shutters (Pl. 2). In the
southern side of the recess, there is a small door khwkhah surmounted by a curved
arch and led to the adjacent room but it is closed now and no longer used. This small
door added in a later period and did not back to the original entrance, it made from the
northern entrance a rare style that no previous example in the city includes a small
door in both sides of its recess.”

«4Pl.no.2 The northern entrance and
the Ayyubid inscription. By the
author in July 2010..

" ‘Uthman, Al-Handasah al-"insh ‘yah, p. 214.
%2 al-Qusir, Al-madakhil, p. 64.
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The entrance includes an inscription™ composed of two lines, wrapping around the
three sides of the recess. It rises over the entrance level by 2.85 m; its length is 1.56 m
at the right side, 2.06 m in the middle, and 1.56 m at the left side; and it has a width of
28 cm along all three sides™ (Fig. 4).

Glle alimall llall y akae Y1 lalud) BY ge 350 3 A al) Zll o2 Canda o aSaglidla 2 (1)7
Liall ~3la sl cllal) ) seaiall jakaall 3y sall L jall alaall alladl asall 5 o el & sha apas aaY) A
ol A Cang 0 ad O Ghug il ) U AR Gaee dl) Sl puals dl) DG (2) dadls ol
e Ol e A Ay ) aed) 4S glaa s Al 5 daaay o jlail 4l el s aSle il AA (i sall

A 5l) 5 _agll (pe Alain s Cpnad s An | B s (8 oadll) anal) 0 POa )

“(1) Al-Basmalah, this blessed building was renewed in the reign of al-sultan al-
A ‘zam wa-I-Malik al-Mu ‘azzam Malik Rigab al-'Umam Said Muliwk al- ‘Arab wa-I-
‘Ajam al- ‘Alim al-Mujahid al-Murabit al-Mu’ aiyad al-Muzaffar al-Mansiir al-Malik
al-Nasir Salah al-Dunyd wa-I-Din protector (2) the countries of Allah helper the
slaves of Allah helper of the caliphate of Allah Abt al-Muzaffar Yiisuf Ibn Muhammad
Ibn Yisuf Khalil Amir al-Mu 'minin Allah immortalized his kingdom and blessed his
supporters by the prophet Muhammad and his family under the supervisor of his poor
slave Abd al- Rahim Ibn Abd al-Rahim Ibn al-Ajami al- ShafiT in 654 from the
migration of the Prophet”

Fig. 4: The Ayyubid inscription in the northern entrance. Facsimiled by the author.

The inscription belongs to the Ayyubid period and is written with Thuluth script,
although the majority of the Ayyubid inscriptions were written with Naskhi script.
Thuluth script was occasionally used jn this period, beginning to appear in the 4™ AH
century/ 10" AD>®. The Naskhi script was the official script for registration in
monumental buildings in this period, however, with the first example recorded in the
city's monuments dated to 543 AH/ 1148 AD, located above the entrance of al-
Hallawiyah madrasa. All previous inscriptions were written with Kufic script™’.

%% This inscription was read in the historical sources such as: Ibn al-Agami (kuniiz, vol. 1, p. 256); al-
Ghuzzi (nahr, vol. 2, p. 99) and previously published by Herzfeld (1956, p. 315) but it is facsimiled for
the first time at this study (Fig. 4).

** Herzfeld, Inscriptions et monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.

% This phrase was read by Herzfeld as “....axs)) ¢ an )l 2 dll daa ), ). but it is more correct to read
as found in the inscription as “...eaxall ms )l ve (p s N 2 dl das ;) .7, Herzfeld, Inscriptions et
monuments d’Alep, vol. 2, p. 315.

% al- Jabbiirt, Al-Khat wa-I-kitabah, p. 130.

S “Uthman, Al-Athar wa-l-awabid al-tarikhiyah, p. 203.
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The second entrance is located in the south side of the facade; it was added during the
renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD. It comprises a huge
recess surmounted by a pointed arch, which reaches 4.35 m from the street level and
is 2.70 m wide. In both the right and left sides of the recess, there is a terrace 74 cm
high and a 63 cm wide. Inside the recess is the entrance that leads inside the mosque.
It is surmounted by a curved arch composed of engaged voussoirs, measuring 2.76 m
high and 1.40 m wide. It is closed by two wooden shutters. The fagcade of this
entrance is characterized by its simplicity. It has no decoration except the color
rotation of the stones between black and yellow, according to the al-Ablag style (PI.
3).

The entrance has an inscription located above its curved arch (Fig. 5), the text added
during the renewal works of Jamil Pasha in 1302 AH/ 1885 AD. It comprises three
lines written in Turkish language, referring to the renewal works in the reign of al-
Sultan 4bd al- Hamid Il under the supervisor of Jamil Pasha, the ruler of Aleppo city.
The date of these renewal works has been engraved under the three lines by numbers
1302 AH.

SIS g o] 55 sl 5 oliy @bl Adla -]
o3 )li len age iy 5l pma Gexidl U A ppeall e (53 -2
il sl et SaSa ., ¥ LA Jian ool Y 5 s 3
1302 4w
1- The caliph of Islam, the lord of the kings, and the possessor of greatness
2- In the blessed reign of the conqueror abd al-hamid 11
3- the ruler of Aleppo Jamil pasha renovated .... at the best way
In 1302

F\‘['}

l__".

1’1'wDF
J‘J_‘ &

-+
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PlLno.3: The southern entrance and the fig.no.5: The Turkish inscription which located
Turkish inscription of the renewal works of above the southern entrance. After, ‘Uthman,
Jamil pasha. By the author in July 2010.. Dirasat naq’ish, p. 148.
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The mosque therefore includes two entrances in its fagade, as found in many other
mosques of different periods in the city of Aleppo. The two entrances are located in
the same side in al-Karimiyah mosque, but this was rare among the city's mosques.
For example, the great Omayyad mosque has two entrances, the first located in the
western side and the second is in the northern side. In al-Tunbiigha mosque, dating to
718 AH/ 1318 AD, the first is located in the eastern side and the second is in the
western side. In al-Atrish mosque of 812 AH/ 1409 AD, the first is located in the
western side and the second is in the northern side. In al-Tawashi mosque built in 774
AH/ 1372 AD, the first entrance is in the eastern side and the second is located in the
western side™.

The two entrances of the mosque have two different styles. The older one is
comprised of a recess surmounted by a half-dome based on stalactites (P1. 2). The
same shape appears in the entrance of the Mihmindar mosque, which features a huge
recess surmounted by a half-dome with a pointed sector based on stone stalactites’’.
The second entrance comprises a recess surmounted by a pointed arch (Pl. 3). This
shape appears in many other examples, such as the entrance of Ogelbek mosque in al-
Bab al-Ahmar district, built in 885 AH/ 1480 AD".

3. The minaret

The mosque has only one minaret, located above the southern entrance. It was said to
have been renewed in the Mamluk period by al-Qadi Baha’ al-Din in 771 AH/ 1369
AD according to an inscription mentioned by Ibn al-Ajami (Kuniiz, 1, p. 256) who
read it as follows:

L;JA/{MQH'U&J/JLUJ sy duﬂ/cj}a SJ/}w‘kfr/‘d,r A2 e ol ;Lg_jg;«.'aﬁ.’/ Liilall 038 oaa
“Ailazies g s s

“This minaret was renewed by al-Qadi Bahd’' al-Din Ali Muhammad Ibn Abi
Sawdadah Miwaqqi‘ al-Dist” in Aleppo and the supervisor of the place in 771 AH”

It is illogical, however, that the current minaret is of this date, because it is
constructed above the southern entrance, which was only added to the mosque during
the renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD. The entrance
forms the base of the minaret itself (Fig. 3). Therefore, I suggest that the minaret was
completely renewed again during the works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/
1451 AD or those of al-Amir Jani Bik al-Taji in 866 AH/ 1462 AD. This is supported
by the inscription mentioned by Ibn al-Ajami (Kuniiz, 1, p.256), which is eroded and
no longer exists, but refers to the minaret being renewed in a later period. The current
minaret was also constructed according to the Mamluk style, which proves that it was

%8 “Uthman, Al-Handasah al-"insh ‘yah, p. 211.

%9 Abd al-Razik, “Architectural archaeological study”, p. 147.

60 “Uthman, Al-Handasah al-"insh ‘yah, p. 220.

o1 Miawaqqi® al-Dist means: the Sultan’s writer or Katib al-Dist al-sultani, he was a first-class
employee in Diwan al-insha’. Also, he was sitting with Katib al-sir during the Sultan’s meetings, he
read the orders, decisions to the Sultan and signed it. Ibn al-Hanbali, Durr, vol. 1, p. 616.
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renewed during the aforementioned works, as they were the only renovations in the
Mamluk period after the date 771 AH.

In stylistic terms, the current minaret is very simple and devoid of decoration and
inscriptions. It resembles other minarets constructed in the city in the Mamluk period.
It begins over the roof, at 9.45 m high. It has one octagonal shaft of 5.20 m height,
and ends at its top with a projecting balcony of octagonal shape, based on stone
stalactites. At the top, there is a cupola with a pointed sector (Pl. 4).

«4Pl.no.4: The minaret of the
mosque. By the author in July
2010.

It was a common rule among the religious buildings in the city of Aleppo that no
mosque should have more than one minaret. The minaret of the a/-Karimiyah mosque
belongs to the Mamluk style, which often utilized the octagonal shape. Square
minarets were common in previous times, during the Seljuk, Zanki, and Ayyubid
periods, such as the minaret of the great Omayyad mosque of the Seljuk period built
in 483 AH/ 1090 AD, which is considered the oldest surviving minaret in the city of
Alepp062. It is thought that the square minaret first appeared in Syria and after that
spread across the western and eastern Islamic world®.

The style of the minaret of a/-Karimiyah appeared in many other examples during the
Mamluk period. These include the minaret of a/-Asfar mosque in al- Jalliwm district,
which was renewed during the Mamluk period; the minaret of al- Haiyyat mosque in
al-Farafrah district of 727 AH/ 1326 AD; the minaret of al-Haddadin mosque in
Bangiisa district dating to 743 AH/ 1342 AD; and the minaret of a/- ‘Umari mosque in
Bahsita district of 8™ AH/ 14™ AD®. All these examples including the minaret of al-
Karimiyah have only one balcony that no minaret in Aleppo in general features more
than one balcony except the minaret of al-Atriish which include two octagonal shafts

%2 Fares, The Great Umayyad mosque, p. 32.
&3 Creswell, “The Evolution of the minaret”, p. 134.
64 Abd al-Razik, “Al-Turuz al-mi ‘martyah”, pp. 316-318.
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each one surmounted by balcony®. Also, there is no one example of the minaret of
Aleppo covered entirely with tiles except the minaret of al- Khusrawiyah which
includes a single row of tiles rings its lower part®.

4. Inside the mosque

There are two entrances leading to the inside. The first one is located in the northern
side of the fagade and leads directly to the open courtyard through a short corridor
roofed with a pointed vault, but it is now closed and no longer used. The second one
is located in the southern side of the facade. It leads to a transversal corridor 8.39 m
long and 2.88 m wide, and roofed with two cross vaults. Inside the corridor, there is a
window located in the right side and open to the main iwan. There is also a small door
facing the outer entrance which leads directly to the main iwan, while the left side of
the corridor leads to the open courtyard. On the northwestern side, there is the
entrance that leads to the roof and the minaret through a stone staircase. It is 1.90 m
high and 70 cm wide, and a curved arch surmounts it (Fig. 2).

4.1. The open courtyard

All the architectural units inside the mosque share one courtyard, which has a semi-
square shape measuring 13.55 m long and 12.47 wide (Fig. 2). The old courtyard was
open and not roofed but is now covered by a modern roof. Its floor is paved with slab
stones and has no decoration or fountain as usual. There are four facades overlooking
it: the first in the south side is the fagade of the main iwan, the second in the east side
of the facade of the eastern iwan, and the third and the fourth in the northern and
western sides of the facades of the mosque's extensions.

4.2. The main iwan, al-Qibliyah:

The main iwan is situated in the south side of the courtyard and overlooks its interior
with a stone facade 6.70 high and finished at its top by a projecting stone cornice. In
the middle of the facade lies the entrance of the main iwan or a/-Qibliyah, with a
height of 2.65 m and width of 1.40 m. The entrance is surmounted by a curved arch,
and two wooden shutters close it. The fagade has three windows, two of which open
onto the main iwan, while the third overlooks the ablution room that separates the
main iwan and the mausoleum. The three windows have the same dimensions, with a
height of 2.10 m and width of 1.10 m, and each is surmounted by a curved arch and
covered by an iron grille. The facade also includes a mihrab overlooking the inside of
the courtyard, which seems to have been added in a later period as resembles a new
extension and its color differs from the facade's wall. It comprises a niche surmounted
by a pointed arch measuring 2.60 m high and 1.12 wide (Fig. 6; PL. 5).

65 Abd al-Razik, “Al-Turuz al-mi ‘martyah”, p.330.
66 Wantenpaugh, The image of an Ottoman city, p. 226.
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fig.no.6: Sector shows the fagade of al-Qibliyah,  pl.no.5 The fagade of al- Qibliyah and the
inside the eastern portico, and the two domes of the =~ Ottoman inscription of the renewal works of
main iwan and the mausoleum. After, the center of Jamil pasha. By the author in July 2010.
planning and archaeological studies in Aleppo.

The facade of the main iwan includes also a monumental inscription67 located above
the entrance. It refers to the renewal works that occurred at the mosque in the
Ottoman period in 1302 AH/ 1885 AD®, comprising five poetry verses written in
Thuluth script carved prominently on stone (Fig. 7).

24 67 diea 5 jliai Cuaé Joaas el 4) ) gl ae
23 puall 5 Ll ) pend 2e sl lhls ) saial 48506,
24 Y pilis fran Lid Yo e Ll oo
daa/ _alialy o jlSall 5 Aol alagll caill 5 jlicais
dasadl /38 3a 26 a0 jaa e Ff 8 sl e ea e
1302

“After the demolition, it was renewed and became in a good condition in the reign of
al-sultan Abd al- Hamid Il who deserves the praise and under the supervisor of his

deputy Jamil pasha who is credited with many good deeds, the renovation of this
mosque was in Muharram 1302 AH”

The date of this renewal works was recorded by numbers at the bottom, as well it was
recorded by letters in the last verse “awal/ /18 1a 152 ;aar 450” according to Hisab al-
jumal (table 1).

| ; 3

1
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\\5 ”Jw@ o : I Fig.no.7: The Ottoman inscription of

i‘\ w%" W&? “ the renev&.lal.works of Jamil pasha.

| ‘m&mj &m Hl Facsimiled by the author.
77 I

| osHligeg @Ma

" This inscription was read by al-Ghuzzi (nahr, vol. 2, p.99) and previously published by Gaube
g1978 p. 42).

Gaube, Arabische inschrifien aus Syrien, p. 42.
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Letter | Value | Letter | Value | Letter | Value | Letter | Value
a 40 z 8 3 4 e 40
3 4 B) 200 - 5 o 60
C 8 2 40 3 700 z
- 5 & 100 i 1 3 4
< 2 3 4 i 1 | Total
. 20 = 3 J 30 values | 1302

Tab.no.1: Shows the date of the renewal works of Jamil pasha 1302 AH according to Hisab
al-jumal in the last verse of the inscription.

The main iwan is composed of an irregular area, running 14.20 m along its southern
wall is 14.20 m, 10.95 m along its northern wall, and 12.47 m along its longitudinal
axis from the entrance to the mihrab. This area is divided by two arcades, each with
two columns (PI. 6); the arcades divide the iwan into three aisles. The first and the
third aisle is divided into square areas roofed by cross vaults, while the middle aisle is
roofed by semi-cross vaults (Fig. 2). The square area in front of the mihrab is roofed
by a dome with pointed sector which rises over an octagonal drum. The drum
composes of eight ribs, each of which includes a window surmounted by a pointed
arch and based on transition zones from spherical triangle pendentives (Fig. 6; P1. 7).

<«4Pl.no.6:Insid
e the main iwan
al- Qibliyah.
By the author
in July 2010.
» Pl.no.7:
The dome over
the mihrab of
the main iwan.
By the author
in July 2010..

Regarding the mosque ceiling, it is founded on the cross vaults used to roof all areas
inside the mosque except the square of the mihrab, which was roofed by a dome (Fig.
2). The cross vault is an architectural element that was used in widely since the pre-
Islamic period, especially in Roman architecture. It was then used in Islamic
architecture and appeared for the first time in the early Syrian architecture in Quseir
‘Amra in Jordon of 86-96 AH/ 705- 715 AD®. It appeared for the first time in
Egyptian architecture in the Fatimid period in the mosque of al-Juyiishi of 478 AH/
1085 AD. The cross vault was an essential element for the ceiling in the city of
Aleppo, being in widespread use since its first appearance early in the Islamic period.
The most famous example of this element appears in the great Omayyad mosque,
which has been completely roofed in this way.

% Shafi‘1, Al- Imarah al- ‘arabiyah, p. 198.
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Beside the cross vaults, the architect used the dome over the square of the mihrab
(Fig. 6; Pl. 7). The first example of this feature appeared in the great Omayyad
mosque in Damascus founded in 97 AH/ 705 AD™. It spread after that to be used in
many buildings, such as: al-Agsa mosque in Jerusalem after the construction of the
Abbasid caliph al-Mahdi in 163 AH/ 780 AD; the dome of al-Kairouan mosque in
Tunis which was added by Abu Ibrahim Ahmad Ibn al-Aghlab in 248 AH/ 862 AD,;
and the dome of the grand mosque in Cordoba which was added by al- Hakam II in
354 AH/ 965 AD'. It also appeared in an early period in Egyptian architecture during
the Fatimid dynasty in a/-Azhar in 359-361 AH/ 790-792 AD and al- Hakim mosque
of 380-403 AH/ 990-1013 AD™ It is a customary style for ceilings in Aleppo city. It
appears in many buildings of various dates, such as: al-Asadiyah al-Jawaniyah
madrasa beside Bab Qinnasrin, which belong to the Zanki period " ; al-
Shadhbakhtiyah and al- ‘Adimiyah madrasa, of the Ayyubid period”*; and Mihmindar
mosque, which belongs to the Mamluk period””.

In the middle of the southern wall of the main iwan, there is the main mihrab. It
measures 2.50 m in height, its width is 1.10 m, and its depth is 88 cm. It consists of a
niche surmounted by a pointed arch decorated with prominent ribs emanating from
the center to form a radiological shape (P1. 8). The mentioned ribs are prominent and
each ends with a stalactite tail”®. Beside the mihrab to the right side is a wooden
minbar’’, devoid of decoration and inscriptions except simple geometrical frames
around the orator’s seat (Fig. 8). It also painted with new paint that distorts its
archaeological features.

4Pl.no.8: The
mihrab of the
main iwan. By
the author in
July 2010.

» Fig.no.8: a
side view and a
plan of the
minbar. Al-Jasir,
Dur al-
mutasawifah, p.
235.

=)

® Lam', Al-QiBab fi al-‘imarah al-islamiyah, p. 19.

" Creswell, Early Muslim architecture, p. 121.

& Samih, “Tatwor al-qiibbah”, p. 10.

73 al-Jasir, Madaris halab, p. 127.

™ al-Jasir, Madaris halab, pp. 165, 224.

"5 Abd al-Razik, “Architectural archaeological study”, p. 151.

76 al-J, asir, Dir al-mutasawifah, p. 234.

"7 The minbar consists of two parts; the first one is the orator’s seat which is fixed in the wall and is
surmounted by a small ribbed copula. The second part includes the ladder, the two sides, and the front
door. This part is movable to be in its location only during the Friday sermon, then it is moved in a side
corner inside the iwan. al-Jasir, Dir al-mutasawifah, p. 234.
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In the western side of the southern wall, there are two small doors measuring 1.60
high and 1 m wide, both of which are surmounted by curved arches (Fig. 2). The first
door leads to a two-story room with an irregular area located behind the mihrab. It is
used as a residence for the mosque's Imam. Its width along the western side is 3 m
and from the eastern side is 3.50, while its length is 6.40 m. The second door leads to
the second floor of this same room, via a stone staircase (Figs. 2, 9).

TSI EHENE

U

fig.no.9: Sector inside the main iwan, the imam's room, fig.no.10: The original decorations
and the minaret. After, the center of planning and around the footprint. Al-Jasir, Dur
archaeological studies in Aleppo.. al-mutasawifah, p. 235.

The southern wall of the main iwan includes also a footprint on a yellow marble slab,
it was surrounded by a simple stone frame (Fig. 10) which is replaced now by marble
decorations surmounted with an inscription includes al-Basmalah and verse 56 Surat
al-ahzab’® (P1. 9).

Gana laslasi | galus g agle | sloa | saal (pdll Al b i) e () shoay 4535 dl ) /o saifeslladle 2y

" asdaall 4
The footprint attributed to the prophet Muhammad. 1t is located on the eastern side of
the southern wall, and is shown on this side of the mosque to allow people to ask
blessings from it (P1. 9). It was associated with a story mentioned in historical sources
which refer to the slab being brought to the mosque by al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim, who
saw in his dream a man coming from Hijaz riding a camel and hiding a footprint
attributed to the prophet Muhammad in his possessions. As the man passed in front of

the mosque, al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim blocked his way, extracted the footprint and put
it inside the mosque””.

Some historical sources mention the story of this footprint, such as al- Tabbakh
(4 lam, V, pp. 288, 289), who noted that it was illogical to attribute it to the prophet
Muhammad for many reasons. Firstly, its yellow stone, known as al-Hirgali,
originates from quarries located near the city of Aleppo itself, not in a/-Hijaz. He also
pointed out that if it was really attributed to the prophet Muhammad, it would not
have been ignored by previous historical authors such as /bn al-Shuhnah and Ibn al-
Hanbali, who presented biographies of al-Shaykh A4bd al-Karim and narrated
complete chapters about the blessed places and monuments in Aleppo but make no
mention of the slab. He assumed also that this stone was not a blessed prophetic
monument because if it were, the Ottoman sultans would likely have transmitted it to
Istanbul as they did with many other blessed monuments in Syria, such as the
footprint founded inside the citadel of Busra.

"8 al-Jasir, Diir al-mutasawifah, p. 234.
7 al-Tabbakh, 4 lam al-nubla’, vol. 5, p. 288.
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In any case, we cannot be absolutely certain whether this footprint is attributed to the
prophet Muhammad or not, as there are many examples around the Islamic world and
most of them are similar with no distinguishing marks from each other®. The most
important example is located inside the dome of the rock in Jerusalem, but others are
preserved in al-Ta’if in Saudi Arabia, on Mount Abi Zubaiydah. 1t is found also in
Cairo in the mausoleum of Qaithay in (,zl-Qardfah81 and masjid athar al-nabi®’. The
city of Aleppo included other examples, such as the footprint of the mosque of
Bagiisa.

4.3. The eastern portico

The eastern portico is located in the eastern side of the courtyard, which it overlooks
through a triple arcade composed of three pointed arches based on two pillars. The
arcade is now closed, however, with a new barrier. It was renewed in the Mamluk
period during the works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD®. The
portico comprises a rectangular area of 12.05 m length and 9.23 m width. It was
divided into two aisles through a middle arcade composed of three pointed arches,
built on two pillars; the two aisles were divided into six square areas roofed by cross
vaults (Fig. 2).

Pl.no.9: A footprint in a yellow stone slab Pl.no.10: The southern wall of the eastern

inside the main iwan attributed to the prophet portico, the entrance of the mausoleum, and

Muhammad. By the author in July 2010. the inscription above the mausoleum's
window. By the author in July 2010.
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Fig.no. 11: The Mamluk inscription of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim al-Khafi above the
mausoleum's window inside the eastern portico. Facsimiled by the author.

8 For more information about this regard look: Tymr, al-Athar al-nabawiyah, pp. 45-59.
81 Coeli, Walker, Muhammad in History, p. 519.

82 Tymiir, al-Athar al-nabawiyah, pp. 45-47.

% Ibn al-Ajami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.
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In the middle of the southern wall, there is a mihrab composed of a rectangular frame.
The niche inside is 2.30 high, 65 cm deep and 95 cm wide. It is very simple and
devoid of decoration and inscriptions. In the right side of the mihrab, there is a door
leading to the mausoleum, 2.15 m high and 1.10 m wide, surmounted by a curved
arch. Above the door, there is a window 1.12 m height and 70 cm wide, which is
surmounted by a curved arch and covered by an iron grille (P1. 10). In the left side of
the mihrab there is another window overlooking the mausoleum, measuring 95 cm
high and 80 cm wide. Above the window is a monumental inscription™ that includes
three Thuluth lines carved prominently in the stone (Fig. 11). The inscription
commemorates the renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD.

(2) Jsbi a4y sic ol ) (i ) () pidl) sued) 468 57 Sen 5 Al 520 S plaadl LSl 130 Ll (1)
Lade disdl (3) 4l v (ol o jall e () mo SI i geadl] pid] s Juiadl) ay 6dl) egrind] Gl asanl] 4Liad
“Ailailal g Cpesas 5 suas dive 8 Sl g dise S pellay Spaliwall s Lindi s 43S o alf Linio [2ids 6/ 53/

“(1)With the helping of Allah, this blessed place was constructed by the poor slave to
Alldah who wishes the pardon of his God (2) who follows the correct way al-Shaykh

Abd al-Karim Ibn Abd al-* Aziz Ibn Abdullah (3) al- Hanafi al-Khawafi Allah enjoy us
with his blessing and benefit us and the Muslims with his good prayers in 855”

The eastern side of the iwan includes three recesses roofed by pointed vaults which
overlook the inside of the iwan via pointed arches, although these are closed now with
new barriers, and connected with the iwan by doors and windows. The northern side
of the iwan includes one recess roofed by pointed vaults which also overlooks the
iwan through a pointed arch.

4.4. The extensions of the mosque

The mosque includes many extensions, some of which date back to the Mamluk
period during the renewal works of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim in 855 AH/ 1451 AD;
others have been recently added. The mausoleum is considered the most important
extension. It was added by al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim as his own tomb® and he was
actually buried here after his death in 884 AH/ 1479 AD™.

Pl. no.11: The mihrab of the
mausoleum. By the author in July
2010.

8 This inscription was previously published by Herzfeld (1955, p. 315).
8 Miencke, Die Mamlukische architektur, p- 372.
% Tbn al-Hanbali, Durr al- habab, vol. 1, p. 839.

-221 - I Al-Karimiyah Mosque in Aleppo, Syria: An Architectural & Archaeological Study



SHEDET (7) | 2020

The mausoleum is located in the eastern side of the main iwan and is separated from it
by a small room with an irregular area roofed by cross vaults, used for ablutions. The
mausoleum comprises of a square area surmounted by four recesses, the square area
measured 3.50 sq m. It is roofed by a dome with a pointed sector rising on an
octagonal drum and based on transition zones from spherical triangle pendentives
(Fig. 6). Around the square area, there are four recesses with different areas roofed by
pointed vaults. The southern recess includes the mihrab, composed of a small niche
surmounted by a pointed arch (Pl. 11). This mihrab is the fourth one inside the
mosque, the others previously mentioned in the south wall of the courtyard, and inside
the main iwan and the eastern portico.

The multiplicity of the mihrabs is a phenomenon that appeared in religious building in
many parts of the Islamic world from early on. It appeared in Egypt from the Fatimid
period in Mashhad al-Saiydah Kolthom 516 AD/ 1122 AD and Mashhad al- Saiydah
Rugaiyah 527 AH/ 1133 ADY. The repetition of mihrabs inside the same building
was probably due to the multiplicity of religious doctrines or because the renewal
works undertaken at each building used the mihrabs as a memorials of each renewal
phase, such as the mihrabs of Ibn Tiliin mosque in Cairo®. The renewal works that
added many extensions to the mosque of al-Karimiyah may be a suitable reason for
the multiplicity of the mihrabs inside it. A multiplicity of mihrabs is common in Syria
generally, appearing in the great Omayyad mosque in Damascus and then spreading
to many buildings in the same city. In Aleppo, there are also many building that
include more than one mihrab, such as: al-Hallawiyah madrasa of 543 AH/ 1148 AD,
which includes three mihrabs®; Minkalt Bugha mosque of 769 AH/ 1367 AD, which
includes three mihrabs’’; and Mihmindar mosque dating to 8™ AH/ 14™ AD, which
includes five mihrabs’.

The northern recess includes a small door that connects the mausoleum and the
eastern portico. The eastern recess includes an open arch that connects the mausoleum
and another rectangular room, of 3.30 m length and 2.10 m width and roofed by cross
vaults. The eastern side of the rectangular room includes a recess 2.95 m long and
1.35 m wide, roofed by a flat wooden roof, while its northern side includes a window
overlooking the eastern portico, in which the inscription has been engraved. (Fig. 2).

The phenomenon of the attached mausoleum within religious buildings is a customary
idea in Islamic architecture in general. The mausoleum of the prophet Mohammed is
considered the first example of this phenomenon, becoming incorporated inside the
borders of the mosque after the renewal works of al-Amir ‘Umar Ibn Abd al-Aziz in
88-91 AH/ 707-710 AD during the reign of the Omayyad Caliph al/-Walid 1bn Abd al-
Malik®®. The attached mausoleum appeared in Egypt for the first time during the

8 Lam'1, AI-Tiirath al-mi‘mart, p. 44.

8 Mahir, Masajid misr, p. 149.

89 al-Jasir, Madaris halab, p. 108.

% Abd al-Razik, “Al-Rumi "Menkali Bogha" mosque”, p. 143.

1 Abd al-Razik, “Architectural archaeological study”, pp. 151-153.
%2 al- Haddad, AI-Qibab fi al- ‘imarah al-misriya, p. 31.
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Fatimid period in Mashhad al- Juyiishi 478 AH/ 1085 AD?, the second example
appeared during the Ayyubid period in al-Madaris al-Salthiyah 647-648 AH/ 1249-
1250 AD, and then it became widespread in Mamluk architecture”.

The mausoleum was attached to religious buildings in Syrian architecture since an
early period. The first example occurred when Nir al-Din Mahmiid constructed his
school in Damascus in 567 AH/ 1172 AD and attached a mausoleum for himself”.
After this, it spread widely in the Syrian cities especially in Damascus and Aleppo. In
Aleppo, it appeared in many examples, such as the mosque of al-Tunbugha 718 AH/
1318 AD and the mosque of al-Afriish 812 AH/ 1409 AD°.

Among the extensions of the mosque are the toilets, which are located in the
northeastern side of the courtyard. These were added during the renewal works of al-
Shaykh Abd al-Karim®’. They can be reached through one door in the northwestern
side of the eastern portico and another in the northeastern side of the courtyard.
Beside the toilets from the western side, there is a square hall recently added to the
mosque, which can be reached through a staircase in the same side and it is currently
used in memorizing the holy Quran and teaching jurisprudence sciences.

In the western side of the courtyard, there is an irregular room”® measuring 7.50 m
long from north to south, 4.95 m wide along its southern side and 4.30 m along its
northern side. It is isolated from the courtyard through a new barrier and can be
reached now through one door in its southern side. It also includes two windows in its
western side overlooking the fagade of the mosque.

Regarding the general plan of al-Karimiyah mosque, including all architectural
elements previously described, it is very similar to the Mamluk mosques in Aleppo
city, as the principal renewal works at the mosque occurred during the Mamluk
period. Therefore, the majority of the architectural units and the decorative details
inside the mosque are homogenous with a style attributed to the same period.

The Mamluk mosques in the city of Aleppo are characterized by simplicity and a
small size. The majority of them have the principal iwan in the south side of the
courtyard called al-Qibliyah and another portico or iwan in the eastern side, in
addition to the extensions that comprise a mausoleum, Qastal, toilets and service
rooms” . In terms of the general plan of al-Karimiyah mosque, it has the same
characteristics, that include an iwans in the southern side, a portico in the eastern side
and extensions in the other sides, all of which share one courtyard in the center (Fig.
2). This plan is repeated in many other mosques in the same city, such as the mosque

93 Shafi‘1, “The Mashhad al-Juyushi”, p. 237.

% Lam'1, AI-QiBab fi al-‘imarah al-islamiyah, p. 27.

% Kessler, “Funerary architecture”, p. 259.

% Ibn al-Shuhnah, AI-Durr al-muntakhab, pp.72, 73.

7 Ibn al-AJami, Kuniiz al-dhahab, vol. 1, p. 256.

%8 The historical sources mentioned that this room was used as a kuttab to teach children. Al-Ghuzzi,
nahr, p. 98; Some references referred that a part of its area was reduced from the northern side to be a
kitchen. al-Jasir, Diir al-mutasawifah, p. 237.

% ‘Uthman, Al-Handasah al-"insh ‘yah, p. 214.
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of al-Mihmindar in al-Bandarah district 8" AH/ 14™ AD, although this has an
external aisle in the northern side'”. The same basic plan also appears in the mosque
of Ughilbik in al-Bab al-ahmar district dating to 885 AH/ 1485 AD, which has an
iwan in both south and eastern sides in addition to the courtyard.

THE ENDOWMENTS OF THE MOSQUE

Many endowments were allocated to the al-Karimiyah mosque inside and outside
Aleppo. The wagf book was lost but it was mentioned by al-Ghuzzi (Nahr, 11, pp.100-
101) who presented an abbreviated narration of the endowments allocated to the
mosque. They included many endowments inside Aleppo city and other districts
outside it (table 2). All these endowments have now disappeared and have been
replaced by other buildings constructed during later periods. The wagf book is
attributed to al-Shaykh 4bd al-Karim and dates to 862 AH/ 1458 AD.

The abbreviated Arabic transcription of the wagf as mentioned by al- Ghuzzi (Nahr,
vol. 2, pp.100-101):

e o ol Jlaa o i jadl ve o ol i n g S e ] 448 5 o3 ey ST mals i g L DR
o Il il Lild e 535 paae¥1 ol 5 iy (g i ol J310 (SISO EOU i g sinll 41 53 b
Ol iyl ity LU s Ll 1 il GIS. iy o Liad 13 g 4o o ]
e ls cals Al (LIS mals il gt o plall (A pudll Caialls G peaif il Aso S Lagainny < laio
8 illy /ol g dmals olad [ty iyl ol lsas g DSLST iy 310 SIS0

No. | The endowments

Its location

Notes

1. | Three shops.

inside Bab Qinnasrin, beside
al-Asadiyah school, Aleppo.

Twelve acres and

Ta ‘wum village which follows

Beside the city of /d/ib in

2. one third. Sarmin current time.
3 Half of al- Outside Bab Antakya, Aleppo
| Jishariyah Khan. ya, Aleppo. |

4. | Half of four adjacent
stables.

Inside the district of Bab
Qinnasrin, Aleppo.

the other half of these four
stables was allocated to al-
Khalil mosque outside
Aleppo.

5. | Four shops.

Inside Bab Antakya, Aleppo.

6. | Two houses.

Inside the district of Bab
Qinnasrin, Aleppo.

7. | One house.

Beside al-Karimiyah mosque,
Aleppo.

8. | One house.

Inside the district of al-
Bandarah.

Beside al-Qadr mosque
which still survived in its
location.

Table 2. Shows the endowments of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim al-Khafi on his mosque
according to (al-Ghuzzi, Nahr vol. 2, pp. 100-101).

As usual, the wagf book includes the founder's stipulations for spending the yield of
the wagqf, that proceeds riy‘ should be spent first and foremost on the current upkeep
of the wagf property, and on its development, construction, renovation and

190 Abd al-Razik, “Architectural archaeological study”, p. 146.
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restoration'®'. Fortunately, the founder's stipulations were mentioned in al- Ghuzzi
(Nahr, 11, pp.100-101) (table 3).

The Arabic transcription of the founder's stipulations as mentioned by al- Ghuzzi
(Nahr, 2: 100-101):

sypand) Lallsd) Lucadll aa) ol (o g SS 5 Ci oy O 5 023ise llns Ao of dudi o 4485 L 5
Pl sty Gl g Gl cin ) (A s B (el G puses g Dila g bl (600 cils SO laleo
Csuad g Gliila g draln 5 g slagg o IS S e s agie )y JS [)dr dhds Ly )Y (g ple 5 dilog
Loty 4alos g walad] (5 48T 55006 5 Aila g drand] o gy (pid gl (5630 5 s g (i) S (prid o dr Y
Ll ill by BT Gy sy alall (s )l 5 galadl (5580 5 ude 5 palall jeud SS 4 < j Jlb )l dsed
Lell) ili o a5 Slabuatl] g Loy yills 4] Sppaasiall (g 3n) g 25 ) Aed aguial jiils 5 agilic g 00Y o 25 )Y oaes

“862 L Glas y 5 e Ao 3
No. Value Duration Beneficiary Notes
30 silver pure . .
1. | dirhams, traded | Every month The orator Who delivers the Friday
in Aleppo sermon
During the three The teacher | Who teaches the Hadiths
2. | 150 dirhams | months Rajab, of al- of the prophet al- Hadit
Sha ‘ban, and Ramadan Bﬁkhdi’y al-Nabawi
3| 90 dirhams Every month The mosque's Who leads people in
imam prayers
Each one of them read
Four every day inside the
4. | 120 dirhams | Every month memorizers ry cay
of Quran m(t)sque one part of the
30" parts of the Quran
5. | 250 dithams | Every month Four . Evew two, responsible of
muezzins a shift work
. . Muezzins Who call for prayer in
6. | 30 dirhams Every Friday of Friday Friday
7. | 130 dirhams | Every month The servant Who guard and serve the
mosque
Value of 5 The e
8. pounds of oil Every month mosque Used in lighting the lamps
9. | 10 dirhams Every month Al-Qanawatt Who cleans the source of
the water
10. | 40 dirhams Every month Al-Jabr Who collects the yield of
the wagf
Who supervises on the wagf,
the founder stipulated that
11. | 90 dirhams Every month Al-Nazir the supervision should pass
after this person to his older
son al-arshad fa-l-arshad
= | 790 dirhams were the total proceeds spent in one month of the year plus 150
S | dirhams spent during the three months Rajab, Sha ‘ban, and Ramadan in
& . .
= | addition to the value of 5 pounds of oil every month.

Table 3. Shows the stipulation of the Wagqf book of al-Karimiyah mosque.

101

Awlad al-Nas”, p. 318.

Raymond, “Les grand waqfs”, p. 114; Raymond, La ville arabe, Alep, p. 170; Layish, “Waqfs of
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It is apparent that the wagf of al-Karimiyah was extensive during the Mamluk period,
for huge proceeds were spent on the mosque. These proceeds can be estimated each
year at 9480 dirhams (790 every monthx12) plus 450 dirthams spent in Rajab,
Sha ‘ban, and Ramadan for the teacher of al-Bikhart, in addition to the value of 60
pounds of oil (5 pounds every month). The total proceeds spent each year were
therefore estimated at 9930 dirhams plus the value of 60 pounds of oil.

In addition to the waqf of al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim, there were likely other
endowments for the mosque by Jamil Pasha in the Ottoman period, although no
record of these survives. The historical sources do not mention any notes about
allocating new endowments to the mosque during the works of Jamil Pasha. The two
inscriptions that commemorate his works are also limited to mentioning the
renovations only, without any notes on endowments. Despite this, it can be assumed
that the works of Jamil Pasha were not confined to renovating the mosque, but also
included allocating endowments. This supposition is based on the inscription
mentioned by Gaube (1978, p. 42) — previously mentioned in discussing the renewal
works — which was located in a shop beside the mosque, and referred to the shop itself
being endowed on the mosque in 1302 AH/ 1885 AD (Fig. 12).

i o, oA - rd

Fig .no.12. The inscription of the endowments of Jamil pasha on al-Karimiyah mosque. After,
‘Uthman, Dirasat naq ish, p. 149.

As noted, this date is the same as that of the renewal works of Jamil Pasha at the
mosque itself and the historical sources do not refer to any works around this date
except those attributed to him. Although Gaube (1978, p. 42) referred only to the shop
that included the mentioned inscription, this does not mean that this waqf was
confined to it. The waqf may have been large and included many endowments that
had a great role in developing the mosque.

CONCLUSION

This case study concerns a significant archaeological building in its own right. The al-
Karimiyah mosque is considered one of the oldest mosques of the city of Aleppo. It is
suggested that an approximate date for its first construction can be pinpointed during
the 1% century AH until the first year of the 2™ century AH. After this, various
renewal works developed its architecture during the Ayyubid, Mamluk, and Ottoman
periods. The study corrected what was assumed by some previous studies that the date
654 AH is the date of construction and proved that this is the date of the first renewal
works. The renewal works that occurred at the mosque in 1302 AH in the Ottoman
period by Jamil pasha were not limited to renovation works but also included building
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construction as a wagf. The study determined the significant roles that the mosque
played in the city during the various historical periods, as it performed a range of
functions including that of Madrasa, Khangah, Zawiyah, mausoleum, and shrine. The
study proved that there is no relation between the current minaret and the minaret of
Ibn Abi Sawada, which was added to the mosque in 771 AH, and proposes that the
current minaret was completely rebuilt during either the renewal works of al-Shaykh
Abd al-Karim in 855 AH or in 866 AH during the works of al-Amir Jani Bik al-Taji.
Finally, the mosque had many endowments allocated to it by al-Shaykh Abd al-Karim
in the Mamluk period, with proceeds spent on the mosque each year estimated at
more than 9930 dirhams.
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